Case No. SC08-1319 Lower Tribunal No.: 2D03-5156 Florida Bar No. 0628220 On Requested Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District

In the SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION ASSOCIATION; and MIKE KOCHER and LYNN KOCHER, as Parents and natural guardians of CHRISTOPHER KOCHER, a minor,

Petitioners

vs.

#### BAYFRONT MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

Respondent

# PETITIONERS', MIKE AND LYNN KOCHER'S, BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

The Ferraro Law Firm Dino G. Galardi, Esquire 4000 Ponce De Leon Boulevard Suite 700 Miami, Florida 33146 (305) 375-0111 (305) 379-6222 (fax)

Dated: July 28, 2008

## **

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioners, Mike and Lynn Kocher, as parents and natural guardians of Christopher Kocher, a minor, were Appellees in the District Court of Appeal, Second District, along with the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association. Bayfront Medical Center, Inc. was the Appellant. The parties herein shall be referred to as "Kochers"; "NICA"; and, "Bayfront".

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

This action arises from the medical negligence at and by Bayfront during the labor and delivery of Kocher's twin sons on June 15, 1996, with such negligence causing the death of one of their sons (Christopher) just three days after birth.

It is undisputed and has been stipulated to by all parties herein that Kocher's obstetrician, who was not employed by Bayfront, provided her with notice that he was a participating NICA healthcare provider before her delivery.

It is also undisputed that Bayfront, the hospital at which the labor and delivery took place, did not provide Kocher with proper notice that it was a participating NICA healthcare provider before her delivery.

On February 12, 1999, the Kochers filed a medical malpractice action solely against Bayfront in the Sixth Judicial Court for Pinellas County, Florida, bearing

Case No. 99-1084-CI-11, due to Bayfront's failure to provide the required NICA notice.

On September 13, 2000, at the urging of Bayfront, the trial judge abated the medical malpractice action until the applicability of NICA to the Kochers claims were resolved, to wit: whether or not the injuries sustained qualified under NICA, and whether or not the healthcare providers (the participating physician and the hospital) failed to comply with the notice provisions of NICA.

In the NICA administrative action the Kochers agreed that the injuries were compensable under NICA, but contested compensability under NICA and the ensuing application of the immunity provisions of NICA as to Bayfront in light of Bayfront's undisputed failure to provide separate and independent notice of its participation in NICA.

The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") determined that the injuries incurred by the infant, Christopher, during delivery were compensable under NICA; that the delivering physician was a NICA participant, and that he provided proper notice to the Kochers of his participation in NICA.

However, the ALJ further determined that Bayfront failed to provide the Kochers with the requisite notice of its participation in NICA. Consequently, the ALJ determined that the immunity provisions of NICA did not apply to Bayfront

and the Kochers had the option of either accepting benefits pursuant to NICA, or pursuing their medical malpractice claim against Bayfront.

The protracted appellate proceedings that followed scrutinized the extent of the ALJ's jurisdiction, including whether the ALJ had jurisdiction to determine issues related to the required notice to be given to a patient by a NICA healthcare participant prior to providing any services, and the effects of any such failure to provide such notice. See, <u>Bayfront Medical Center, Inc. v. Div. of Admin.</u> <u>Hearings</u>, 841 So. 2d 626(Fla. 2d DCA 2003); <u>Bayfront Medical Center, Inc. v.</u> <u>Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Ass'n</u>, 893 So. 2d 636(Fla. 2005); and NICA v. Bayfront, 955 So. 2d 531(Fla. 2007).

In <u>NICA v. DOAH</u>, 948 So. 2d 705, this Court answered the question in the affirmative, holding that "an ALJ has jurisdiction to make findings regarding whether a healthcare provider has satisfied the notice requirements of section 766.316, Florida Statutes." 948 So. 2d at 716-717.

Thereafter, this Court in <u>NICA v. Bayfront</u>, supra, quashed <u>Bayfront</u> <u>Medical Center, Inc. v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation</u> <u>Ass'n</u>, 893 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 2DCA 2005), and remanded the case back to the Second District Court of Appeal for reconsideration upon application of this Court's decision in <u>NICA v. DOAH</u>.

On January 16, 2008, the Second District Court of Appeals, on remand, entered the decision at issue herein, which was rendered final by the denial of the Kocher's and NICA"s motions for clarification and rehearing, on June 3, 2008.

In the instant decision, the Second District Court of Appeals determined that Bayfront was not statutorily required to provide the Kochers with independent notice of its participation in NICA; reversed the ALJ's finding that the Kochers have the right to reject the NICA benefits and proceed with their medical malpractice action against Bayfront; and, remanded for compliance with the NICA payment provisions.

Recognizing and acknowledging that their conclusion is in conflict with the First District Court of Appeals' decision in <u>Board of Regents v. Athey</u>, 694 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1997), the Second District Court of Appeals certified, as one of great public importance, the question of whether a delivering physician's provision of his participation in NICA satisfies the statutory notice requirements of NICA if the delivering hospital fails to provide notice of any kind.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

## THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS OR OF THIS COURT

## THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS CERTIFIED THE DECISIVE QUESTION RELATIVE TO ITS HOLDING AS BEING ONE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

## **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to the pertinent provisions of article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over a decision of a District Court of Appeal that conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law; that passes upon a question certified to be of great public importance; or that is certified to be in direct conflict with other district courts of appeal. See also, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv, v, vi).

The test of this Court's jurisdiction is to determine whether the court of appeal has announced a decision on a point of law which, if permitted to stand, would be out of harmony with a prior decision of this Court or another court of appeal on the same point, thereby generating confusion and instability among the precedents. <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1962)

The Kochers respectfully submit that the instant decision of the Second District Court of Appeals herein conflicts with decisions of **every other** Florida

District Court of Appeals on the same point of law. See, <u>Board of Regents v.</u> <u>Athey</u>, supra.; <u>University of Miami v. Ruiz</u>, 916 So 2d 865 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2005); <u>Northwest Medical Center, Inc. v. Ortiz</u>, 920 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006); and Weeks v. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological, 2008 WL 268704(Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2008).

Of particular interest to these proceedings, the court in <u>Athey</u> spoke to the independent obligation of both the delivering physician and the hospital to accord the patient notice of their participation in NICA, as mandated by Section 766.316, Florida Statutes.

Section 766.316 provides in pertinent part that:

"Each hospital with a participating physician on its staff **and** each participating physician...shall provide notice to the obstetrical patients thereof as to the limited no-fault alternative for birth-related neurological injuries..." (Emphasis added.)

The First District Court of Appeals in <u>Athey</u> stated "if a hospital has a participating physician on its staff, to avail itself of NICA exclusivity the hospital is required to give pre-delivery notice to its obstetrical patients. In addition...a participating physician is required to give notice to the obstetrical patients to whom the physician provides services. Under section 766.316, therefore, notice on behalf of the hospital will not by itself satisfy the notice requirement imposed on the participating physician(s) involved in the delivery." 694 So. 2d at 49.

This conclusion reached by the <u>Athey</u> court regarding the independent obligation of the physician and the hospital to provide notice of their participation in NICA cannot logically be any different in instances where the physician gives such statutorily required notice but the hospital does not.

In <u>Ruiz</u>, supra., the Third District Court of Appeals determined that the ALJ correctly found, in the underlying NICA proceedings, that a hospital's notice was inadequate to satisfy the physician's independent obligation to provide notice. 916 So. 2d at 869.

Again, the Kochers respectfully submit that logic would dictate that the converse would also be true, i.e. that a physician's provision of the statutory notice of its participation in NICA would not satisfy the hospital's independent obligation to provide notice of its participation therein.

In <u>Ortiz</u>, supra., the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined that a hospital's failure to give notice of its participation in NICA resulted in its losing the protection(exclusivity and immunity) afforded by NICA.

Additionally, in <u>Weeks</u>, supra., the Fifth District Court of Appeals determined that where the statutorily required notice was not furnished, neither the hospital, nor the participating physician could invoke the benefits of NICA.

Accordingly, the instant decision of the Second District Court of Appeals that the provision by the delivering physician of the statutorily required notice of

his participation in NICA to the Kochers had satisfied the independently required notice from the hospital (which undisputedly did not provide such notice of its participation in NICA.) so as to preclude the Kochers from pursuing their medical malpractice action against Bayfront clearly conflicts with the above-referenced decisions.

The Second District's interpretation of section 766.316, Florida Statutes deprives the Kochers of their constitutional right to pursue their medical malpractice action in court against Bayfront by limiting them to the exclusive remedy of NICA after Bayfront undisputedly failed to provide the statutorily required notice of its participation in NICA.

As referenced above, the Second District Court of Appeals candidly admitted a conflict with the decision reached by the First District in <u>Athey</u>, as well as certifying, as one of great public importance, the decisive question relative to its decision herein, to wit: does the provision of pre-delivery notice of his participation in NICA by the delivering physician satisfy the notice requirements of all participating healthcare providers pursuant to section 766.316, Florida Statutes, if the delivering hospital fails to provide notice of any kind?

The Second District's instant decision is one of exceptional importance because, by improperly narrowing the instances in which hospitals must provide notice of their participation in NICA; and by improperly expanding the scope of

the exclusivity and immunity provided by NICA, this decision has impinged upon and significantly curtailed a constitutional right previously guaranteed to every parent yet to deliver a child at a Florida hospital.

This decision will also impact many other cases as a judicial precedent; it will significantly affect the remedies of other existing victims of medical malpractice, as well as the accountability of healthcare providers in the State of Florida; and, as it presently stands, has an impact that extends well beyond the particular litigants herein.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The decision herein of the Second District Court of Appeals clearly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same question of law.

Furthermore, the Second District Court of Appeals, itself, noted a conflict with the decision of at least one other district court decision and has also certified the crucial question as it pertains to its decision herein as "one of great public importance".

Accordingly, the Kochers respectfully request that this Honorable Court assume jurisdiction to consider this case and resolve the obvious conflict created as a result of the instant decision herein.