IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MIKE KOCHER, et al.,	
Petitioners,	
VS.	Case No. SC08-1319 Lower Case No. 2D03-5156
BAYFRONT MEDICAL CENTER, INC.	
Respondent.	
	/
On Requested Discretionary R from the Florida Second Distr	

ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RESPONDENT BAYFRONT MEDICAL CENTER, INC.'s

DAVID S. NELSON, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 705780
201 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 1700
Tampa, FL 33602
(813) 223-3951
(813) 209-0214 (fax)
Attorney for Appellant BAYFRONT
MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

As used herein Petitioners MIKE KOCHER and LYNN KOCHER are referred to as "THE KOCHERS." Their "Brief on Jurisdiction" dated July 28, 2008, will referred to as the "Brief." The FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUOLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION ASSOCIATION is referred to as "NICA." Respondent BAYFRONT MEDICAL CENTER, INC. is referred to as "BAYFRONT." The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal that THE KOCHERS wish this Court to review, <u>Bayfront Medical Center</u>, Inc. v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation <u>Association</u>, et al, 982 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2008), shall be referred to as "Bayfront III."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent procedural history and underlying facts are set forth in Bayfront Medical Center, Inc. v. Division of Administrative Hearings, 841 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003)("Bayfront I"), Bayfront Medical Center, Inc. v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association, 893 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2005)("Bayfront II") and, of course, Bayfront III.

In <u>Bayfront III</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal finally answered the substantive question that had been pending since <u>Bayfront I</u>, to wit, does an obstetrician's pre-delivery notice of his participation in the NICA Plan alone, without further, redundant notice from the hospital, satisfy the legislative intent of § 766.316, Fla. Stat. In <u>Bayfront III</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal answered this question with an emphatic and reasoned "yes," and reversed the prior Order of the Administrative Law Judge that had held to the contrary.

In <u>Bayfront III</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IN LIGHT OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN GALEN OF FLORIDA v. BRANIFF, 696 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1997), DOES A PHYSICIAN'S PREDELIVERY NOTICE TO HIS OR HER PATIENT OF THE PLAN AND HIS OR HER PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN SATISFY THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 766.316, FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), IF THE HOSPITAL WHERE THE DELIVERY TAKES PLACE FAILS TO PROVIDE NOTICE OF ANY KIND?

Notably, the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Bayfront III</u>, did <u>not</u> certify conflict with <u>Board of Regents v. Athey</u>, 694 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). Instead, the <u>Athey</u> decision was distinguished on its facts. <u>Bayfront III</u>, 982 So. 2d at 709.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Bayfront III</u> does not certify conflict "with decisions of **every other** Florida District Court of Appeals on the same point of law" because it quite simply does not conflict "with decisions from **every other** Florida District Court of Appeals on the same point of law."

While <u>Bayfront III</u> admittedly contains a question certified to be of great public importance, it is not one where the answer will have broad impact or applicability. In fact, as fact-specific as NICA notice cases tend to be and because of changes in the subject statute, it will have little effect beyond this life of this case. Nor does <u>Bayfront III</u>, as THE KOCHERS claim, improperly deprive them of their "constitutional right to pursue their medical malpractice action in court against Bayfront" or "expand[] the scope of the exclusivity and immunity provided by NICA." To the contrary, <u>Bayfront III</u> is in complete accord with the constitutional considerations described by this Court in <u>Galen</u>, <u>supra</u>.

ARGUMENT

THE KOCHERS begin their "Legal Argument" with an accurate recitation of the very limited types of decisions of a District Court of Appeal this Court may review. From there, however, they go astray.

THE KOCHERS begin their argument in support of this Court's jurisdiction by claiming that Bayfront III "conflicts with decisions of every **other** Florida District Court of Appeals on the same point of law." (Brief at page 8-9). In doing so, THE KOCHERS appear to be attempting to invoke this Court's jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution. To that end, The KOCHERS point to Athey, supra, University of Miami v. Ruiz, 916 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2005), Northwest Medical Center, Inc. v. Ortiz, 920 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) and Weeks v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological, 977 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008), rev. denied, 2008 WL 2522435 (Fla., June 23, 2008) as cases in supposed conflict with Bayfront III. A closer look at the factual and legal underpinnings each of these cited cases, however, demonstrates the error THE KOCHERS' first jurisdictional argument.

In each of the cited decisions, the issue presented was <u>not</u> (as it is here) whether a physician's timely and proper pre-delivery notice of his or her participation in the NICA Plan was sufficient to satisfy the requirements of § 766.316 without redundant notice by the hospital. Rather, the issue in all of the cited decisions was whether the physician's failure to provide any notice at all could be excused. In fact, in <u>Athey</u> and in <u>Ortiz</u>, neither the

physician nor the hospital provided notice.¹ In <u>Ruiz</u> and <u>Weeks</u>, the hospital <u>did</u> give notice, but the physicians did not. In all of these cases, the absence of notice by the physician of his or her participation in the NICA Plan was deemed to be controlling.² These significant factual and legal differences quite simply undermine THE KOCHERS' claim that this Court can and should exercise its jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution. <u>See Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962)("We have said that conflict must be such that if the later decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter. . . . If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then no conflict can arise.")(citations omitted).

_

As acknowledged by THE KOCHERS, the <u>Athey</u> court specifically identified the circumstances under which a hospital such as BAYFRONT is required to provide NICA notice. (Brief at 9)("The First District Court of Appeals in <u>Athey</u> stated 'if a hospital has a participating physician on its staff, to avail itself of NICA exclusivity the hospital is required to give predelivery notice to its obstetrical patients."). This holding not only does <u>not</u> conflict with <u>Bayfront III</u>, it is absolutely consistent with <u>Bayfront III</u>. 982 So. 2d at 708 ("Hospitals with participating physicians on staff are simply required to provide obstetrical patients with the NICA-prepared 'Peace of Mind' brochure.").

² This fact was also key to the Second District Court of Appeals' decision in Florida Health Sciences Center, Inc. v. Division of Administrative Hearings, 974 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 2nd 2007), rev. denied, 2008 WL 2262438 (Fla., May 23, 2008).

THE KOCHERS' next claim that "the Second District Court of Appeals candidly admitted a conflict with the decision reached by the First District in Athey," (Brief at 11), appears to be an attempt to invoke this Court's jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(4), of the Florida Constitution. But it misstates the Second District Court of Appeals' decision. If anything, the Second District Court of Appeal "candidly admitted" (and, as stated above, correctly so) the significant factual differences between the instant case and those in Athey:

Finally, we acknowledge that the language of <u>Athey</u>, 694 So. 2d 46, quoted by the ALJ suggests that our conclusion is in conflict with that First District opinion. However, we note that the issue in <u>Athey</u> was whether the facts supported the waiver of predelivery notice. Because the sufficiency of Mrs. Kocher's physician's predelivery notice of participation was not at issue here, the <u>Athey</u> language included in the ALJ's order was dicta.

Bayfront III, 982 So. 2d at 709.³ "Candidly admitting" factual differences between two cases is hardly the kind of statement that Article V, Section 3(b)4 envisions. See State v. Vickery, 961 So. 2d 309, 311 (Fla. 2007)("We thus hold that district court decisions that simply acknowledge, discuss, cite, suggest, or in any other way recognize conflict do not provide a proper basis

The correctness of the Second District's characterization of the ALJ reference to <u>Athey</u> as "dicta" is apparent from the ALJ's reference itself. <u>See Bayfront III</u>, 982 So. 2d at 707, fn 6. In fact, as the Second District Court of Appeal noted, the ALJ <u>added</u> his <u>own</u> parenthetical language to the actual language from the <u>Athey</u> decision to justify his erroneous conclusion.

for a party to seek this Court's review under our 'certified conflict' jurisdiction.")(emphasis added). Thus, THE KOCHERS' second argument in favor of this Court's jurisdiction falls short, too.

THE KOCHERS' final attempt to convince this Court to accept jurisdiction next focuses on the above-quoted certified question, and the argument that <u>Bayfront III</u> has constitutional implications in this case and beyond. The reality, however, is that <u>Bayfront III</u> is in complete accord with the oft-mentioned concerns of the Legislature when, in enacting the NICA Plan, timely notice of a provider's participation in NICA within a reasonable time before delivery was deemed essential to shield the Plan from constitutional challenge. <u>See Galen</u>, 696 So. 2d at 310. It is also in complete accord with logic and fundamental rules of statutory interpretation.

In this case, Mrs. Kocher's physician was the only "provider" who could elect to "participate" in the NICA Plan and, therefore, the only "provider" who needed to supply Mrs. Kocher with information sufficient for her to make choice between using a "provider" who participated and one who did not. In this case, Mrs. Kocher's physicians <u>did</u> provide her with NICA notice (the statutorily-mandated NICA brochure and an explanation that the physicians in the practice were NICA participants) within a reasonable time before delivery. In this case, Mrs. Kocher did have an

opportunity to change physicians and protect THE KOCHERS' constitutional right to pursue their common law remedies against anyone and everyone involved in the delivery process.⁴ As the Second District Court of Appeal held, nothing more (i.e. the meaningless provision of a second copy of the <u>same</u> brochure) was required.

As is apparent from the "conflict" cases cited by the KOCHERS, the factual scenario present in this case whereby the participating physician provides NICA notice but a hospital does not, is the exception rather than the rule. As is further apparent by the very nature of this protracted appeal, a hospital like BAYFRONT would do well to provide NICA notice early and often to all obstetrical patient regardless of whether the delivering physician is employed by the hospital or not. Furthermore, a hospital would be well-advised to obtain written confirmation that they have done so. Indeed, the 1998 amendments to § 766.316, Fla. Stat., provide the following incentive for them to do so:

[NICA] notice shall be provided on forms furnished by the association and shall include a clear and concise explanation of

⁴ THE KOCHERS have never challenged the fact that, by accepting continuing care after timely and sufficient NICA notice was provided, their claimed constitutional right to pursue their common law remedies against the delivering physician was waived. In fact, the delivering physician was never named in the underlying litigation, was never made part of the administrative proceeding, and has never participated in any of the appellate proceedings.

a patient's rights and limitations under the plan. The hospital **or** the participating physician may elect to have the patient sign a form acknowledging receipt of the notice form. Signature of the patient acknowledging receipt of the notice form raises a rebuttable presumption that the notice requirements of this section have been met.

(emphasis added).⁵ The case law provides a further incentive. <u>See Gugelmin v. Division of Administrative Hearings.</u>, 815 So. 2d 764 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). If nothing else, the extensive case law from this Court and the various District Court of Appeals has sent the loud and clear message that NICA notice is not something to be taken lightly and, by establishing brightline rules and by giving meaning to every word in the subject statute, has limited the conceivable scenarios under which the sufficiency of the notice provided will be litigated. The point is that while THE KOCHERS may reasonably feel that the certified question is of great importance to them, it is not one for which the answer will have "an impact that extends well beyond the particular litigants herein."

-

⁵ Section 7, Chapter 98-113, Laws of Florida, provided that the "[a]mendments to section 766.316, Florida Statutes, shall take effect on July 1, 1998, and shall apply only to causes of action accruing on of after that date."

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, and consistent with this Court's recent decisions to decline to exercise jurisdiction to review NICA notice cases from the District Court of Appeals, See <u>Florida Health Sciences</u> <u>Center</u>, and <u>Weeks</u>, <u>supra</u>, BAYFRONT respectfully requests that this Court decline the invitation to review <u>Bayfront III</u>.